# ORIGINAL

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-714

ALAN MACKERLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PAUL MORRIS, ESQ. Law Offices of Paul Morris, P.A. 999 Ponce de Leon Blvd. Suite 550 Coral Gables, FL 33134 (305) 446-2020 STEPHEN H. ROSEN, ESQ. Law Offices of Stephen H. Rosen, P.A. 999 Ponce de Leon Blvd. Suite 550 Coral Gables, FL 33134 (305) 448-9900

**Counsel for Petitioner Alan Mackerley** 

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX APR 2 8 2000 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY\_\_\_\_\_DU\_\_\_\_

##

#### INTRODUCTION

The petitioner, Alan Mackerley, was the appellant in the Fourth District and the defendant in the circuit court. The respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellee below and the prosecution in the circuit court. The symbol "T" refers to the trial transcripts and "R" refers to the balance of the record on appeal. The supplemental record, consisting of the transcripts of the jury selection, is denoted by "SR".

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Frank Black disappeared in 1996 and has not been heard from since. Mackerley was charged with Black's kidnaping and murder. From the outset of this case, Mackerley has "absolutely maintained his innocence" and "insists he is not guilty...". (SR. 749, statement of defense counsel to prospective jurors at jury selection). The testimony of the prosecution's witnesses established the following.

Black and Mackerley owned competing bus companies in New Jersey which bid for routes to carry children to school. According to prosecution witnesses, Black's business practices were unsavory and widely disliked. (T. 245, 443, 782-83 923-24). Black's business strategy was to underbid his competitors for school bus routes by as much as 50%. To make up for the losses incurred by the underbids, Black would overcrowd the buses and keep the school children on the buses for unlawful periods of time. (T. 783).

By contrast, Mackerley operated his company in accordance with the school districts' legal requirements and did so very

-1-

successfully. (T. 783). In fact, the prosecution's star witness, William Anderson, who had been in the same business, acknowledged that of the approximately 225 bus contractors in New Jersey, Mackerley was the finest due to his intelligence, skills, loyalty, and generosity. (T. 780; 908-09).

Black was considering selling his company and spoke to various companies and individuals about the sale. (T. 257-59; 286; 293; 295; 300; 323-24; 333; 420). Mackerley was among those who wanted to buy Black's bus company, but Black would not deal with him directly because of their years of competition. (T. 789-90; 927-28; 1056). Therefore, in February 1996, Mackerley's girlfriend, Lisa Costello, telephoned Black from Florida, and posed as Mia Giordano, a representative of a company interested in establishing a business relationship with Black. She proposed the purchase of 60 vans from Black which would be converted to small school buses for export to South America and suggested that Black fly from New Jersey to Florida to meet with her. (T. 361-64; 431; 439). Black agreed and on February 24, 1996, flew to West Palm Beach, Florida. (T. 264; 283-86; 326; 441). According to the undisputed testimony of the state's witnesses, Black's flight to Florida was entirely voluntary. (T. 291; 341). Black was never heard from again.

Mackerley had a residence in Stuart, Florida. (T. 452). The prosecution theorized that Black was shot in the house, that blood was splattered throughout the scene of the shooting, and that after the shooting, Mackerley, with the help of his son-in-law, cleaned the room where the shooting took place. Mackerley's son-in-law

-2-

testified for the prosecution as follows. On February 26, he helped Mackerley complete a small renovation project at Mackerley's house in the front hallway that leads to a weight room. The house is old and the two were constantly doing projects there. (T. 658-59; 674). They replaced a pocket door with a regular door which necessitated some drywall work, painting, and some carpet removal. As he had done in the past on projects with Mackerley, the son-in-law brought his truck and took the debris to the local dump. The vacuum cleaners used in the cleanup were also discarded at the dump. (T. 656-84). No washing of any walls or cleaning was requested by Mackerley or undertaken. The son-in-law stated that if there had been any blood, he would have seen it and that there was no blood anywhere in the house or on any of the items loaded in the truck. (T. 669-73).<sup>1</sup> Not all of the carpeting was removed. (T. 673). Nothing at all was done to the ceiling. (T. 671). All of the carpeting in the weight room remained. (T. 673). The son-in-law stated that Mackerley was an accomplished builder and carpenter and that if Mackerley had intended to hide any evidence of a crime, he could have performed this type of work entirely by himself. (T. 675).

The son-in-law testified that he has known and been close to Mackerley for 18 years and never heard him express any strong feelings about Black. (T. 674-75).

The prosecution introduced telephone records which established

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Forensic testing of the house could neither confirm nor rule out the presence of blood. (T. 1404).

that from February 22-24, calls were made to Black's telephone numbers from Costello's and Mackerley's Florida residences. (T. 453-57). Also, Costello rented a car near the airport on February 24 in her own name<sup>2</sup> and she used her own credit card. She returned the car on February 26. (T. 505-09).

The prosecution also established that on February 25, between 1:30 a.m. and 2:30 a.m., Black's credit card was used by Costello in a telephone in the lobby of a hotel in Riviera Beach, calls were placed to directory assistance and to hotels in Miami Beach (T. 550-56; 573), and a credit card purchase for gasoline was made in North Miami using Black's credit card. (T. 559-61).

The above facts constitute the essence of the prosecution's case against Mackerley, save for Anderson's testimony. Anderson testified that Mackerley told him that he murdered Black. According to Anderson, on February 28, 1996, he received a telephone call from Mackerley who volunteered that he killed Black, took the body out on his boat, and dumped it overboard. Mackerley later asked Anderson, who was a pilot, to fly over the ocean to look for Black's body. (T. 812-13). Anderson declined on the ground that the flight could not be done secretly. (T. 815).

Anderson stated that he and Mackerley talked about the murder during the ensuing weeks. (T. 818). According to Anderson, Mackerley said that Black was brought into Mackerley's house by his "accomplice." When Black recognized Mackerley, he immediately

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Costello is her maiden name. She is also known as Lisa Nardiello, her name by former marriage. (T. 518.)

grabbed Black in a headlock and shot him through the head. (T. 819; 1088; 1133). Mackerley said there was blood all over the ceiling, walls, carpets, and floors. (T. 820). Black's body was wrapped up with all of his personal belongings, along with the murder weapon, and taken out to sea in Mackerley's Formula boat where the body was thrown overboard. (T. 821-22; 826). Mackerley said he used one of Black's credit cards after the murder at a service station to make it appear that Black was then alive. (T. 826).

When Anderson was contacted by law enforcement agents investigating Black's disappearance, he hired an attorney. Only after he obtained immunity did Anderson claim that Mackerley confessed to him. Anderson also told the agents that the business rivalry between Mackerley and Black could not be a motive for murder. (T. 830, 914, 995). To the contrary, according to Anderson, Mackerley's business was so strong that he could have pursued Black's business simply through ordinary business practices. (T. 916).

The authorities were not confident about Anderson's uncorroborated claim. They told him the case against Mackerley was uncertain and that an admission by Mackerley was needed on tape. (T. 1112). Anderson wore a hidden microphone during a conversation with Mackerley at Anderson's house where a camera was hidden to videotape the conversation. (T. 831). The taped conversation took place on August 29, 1996. (T. 832). Not once did Mackerley ever

-5-

state that he killed Black. (T. 843-58; 1113).<sup>3</sup> (T. 843-58; 1113). In fact, Mackerley told Anderson that the investigating officers were making allegations that were not true. (T. 855-56). Thus, Anderson's claim that Mackerley confessed to him remained uncorroborated.

Anderson was not entirely without his self-interests in the case. As noted, he immediately demanded and obtained immunity when first contacted by the agents investigating the case. Additionally, Mackerley had a long-term affair with Anderson's wife. (Anderson claimed that he did not learn of the affair until October 1997.) (T. 221; 840; 1047-49; 1270)). Anderson also acknowledged that he became very close to two of the lead agents in the case (T. 1086) and that they shared information about the investigation. (T. 1102). Anderson requested that one of the FBI agents speak to a prosecutor in California who was prosecuting Anderson's son-in-law. The FBI agent complied. (T. 1079-81).<sup>4</sup> Furthermore, Anderson was hoping that his daughter would marry one of the agents. (T. 1081-82).

Over the course of the police investigation, Anderson gave several inconsistent versions of Mackerley's confession. Initially, Anderson claimed that Mackerley said the shooting took place in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Curiously Anderson did not pose any questions to Mackerley that would elicit a direct admission or denial of guilt, such as: "Did you really kill Black?" or "Why did you kill Black?" or "Why didn't you hire someone else to kill Black?", or such inquiries. (T. 1124).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The charges against Anderson's son-in-law were eventually dropped. (T. 1140).

weight room. (T. 1088). But when the investigation ruled out the weight room, Anderson stated that the shooting took place in the hallway near the weight room. (T. 1088-89). Initially, Anderson stated that Mackerley said he used his Formula boat to take the body 22 miles out to sea. But after the investigation found evidence suggesting that Mackerley's other boat might have been 16 miles out to sea, Anderson said that Mackerley simply used "a boat" (T. 1091) and that the body was put overboard 12 to 22 miles out at sea. (T. 1100).<sup>5</sup>

The prosecution could not prove Mackerley had a motive to kill Black. One of the prosecution's theories was that Mackerley murdered Black because he successfully underbid for a certain desirable school bus route known as "Mine Hill" which Mackerley's company held for several years.<sup>6</sup> (T. 443). Black's girlfriend since 1991, Sally Roberts, who was also Black's office manager, testified that Mackerley operated that bus route until 1995, when Black substantially underbid Mackerley to obtain the route. (T. 406-11). Roberts also testified that afterward, at a business meeting with several in the bus business, Mackerley complained that Black was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The investigation found that a point 16 miles out to sea had been logged in the Global Positioning System of Mackerley's other boat. (T. 1432; 1447). The Global Positioning System consists of satellites which encircle the globe and emit radio signals. A handheld or mounted small computer (commonly called the "GPS") converts into latitude and longitude positions. (T. 1414). The investigation could not, however, determine when that point was logged into the GPS. (T. 1436).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In this area of New Jersey, school bus routes were awarded to the lowest bidder and were continually re-bid and re-awarded. (T. 422).

the type of person who stepped on other's toes and went into their territory. According to Roberts, Mackerley also told everyone that he would bury Black. Roberts explained that in context, however, Mackerley's comment was strictly relating to business. (T. 426-27).<sup>7</sup>

By the end of the trial, the prosecutor's only theory of motive was that Mackerley hated Black. (See closing argument of prosecutor at T. 1247). But there was no evidence or behavioral history that Mackerley would ever hurt or kill anyone simply out of hatred. In fact, prosecution witnesses disputed the claimed hatred between Mackerley and Black. Joseph Cacia, a representative of Ryder, spoke with Black about buying his bus business. Cacia, who described Black as "eccentric" (T. 337), was told by Black that he was tired of being in the bus business and wanted to sell his business and retire. (T. 336-38; 396). (Eventually, Ryder did purchase Black's company. (T. 339)). Cacia knew both Black and Mackerley, observed them together, and detected no animosity between them. (T. 334; 341).

Another prosecution witness was a supplier to Mackerley's business. The witness testified that he was asked by Mackerley if he would be his exclusive supplier. The supplier said he would not, that he would continue supplying Mackerley's competitors, including Black. Mackerley responded that he understood, saw no conflict, and would nevertheless continue doing business with the supplier. (T.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Even Anderson testified that the Mine Hill route would not be a motive for murder. (T. 1144).

403-05).

Anderson acknowledged that when he once suggested that Mackerley could destroy Black financially, Mackerley responded he did not want any more trouble with Black, he did not want to start a war, and he and Black were "at peace". (T. 1054). Anderson also conceded he never heard Mackerley plan to kill Black, plan to hire anyone to kill him, or say anything ever that would lead Anderson to believe that Mackerley intended harm to befall Black. (T. 925-26).

The jury was instructed on the charges of kidnaping and first degree murder. The murder charge was submitted to the jury on dual theories: premeditated murder and felony murder. The underlying felony for the felony murder charge was kidnaping. The jury found Mackerley guilty of kidnaping and returned a general verdict of The jury recommended life quilt first degree murder. of imprisonment rather than the death penalty for the murder. (R. 908). The trial judge followed the jury's advisory recommendation and sentenced Mackerley to life imprisonment on the murder count. (R. 1014-26). A concurrent term of life imprisonment was imposed upon the kidnaping count. (R. 1019).

Mackerley appealed to the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District. On March 22, 2000, the Fourth District released its opinion. *Mackerley v. State*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D722 [2000 WL 294507] (Fla.4th DCA 2000).

Mackerley claimed that the prosecution failed to prove the corpus delicti of a murder prior to admitting his statements. The

-9-

Fourth District ruled that "the record reveals that this issue is not preserved for appellate review and does not present fundamental error." 25 Fla. L. Weekly at D723.

Mackerley also challenged the kidnaping charge as legally invalid on the ground it failed to come within the statutory definition of the crime as provided in § 787.01(1)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp.1996). The Fourth District agreed for reasons discussed in the argument section of this brief.

Mackerley further argued that because his kidnaping conviction was legally invalid, he was entitled to a new trial on the first degree murder charge. Mackerley relied upon decisions of the Supreme Court of the United States, this Court, and the Fourth District, all of which recognize the following rule of law: when a jury is given dual theories of prosecution and returns a general verdict, if one theory is legally invalid, the defendant is entitled to a new trial when the verdict might be based upon the invalid theory. The Fourth District concluded that the authorities relied upon by Mackerley "indicate a clear reversal of the murder conviction in this case and remand for a new trial." *Id.* at D725. However, the court also found on point the contrary and intervening decision of this Court in *Delgado v. State*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S790 [2000 WL 124832] (Fla. Feb.3, 2000).

In Delgado, a first degree murder charge went to the jury on dual theories of felony murder and premeditation. The underlying felony was armed burglary. This Court ruled that the armed burglary conviction was outside the scope of the burglary statute because

-10-

the defendant was an invitee on the premises. However, without any discussion of the aforementioned rule of law, this Court applied the harmless error doctrine and affirmed on the ground that the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction for premeditated murder.

The Fourth District found itself bound by *Delgado*, reasoning as follows:

Following *Delgado*, we are constrained to conclude that the trial court's error in sending the kidnaping charge to the jury in the instant case was harmless; based upon our review of the record, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, there was evidence to support finding of а premeditation. Nevertheless, we remain troubled in affirming Mackerley's murder conviction, especially since the jury convicted Mackerley of kidnaping based on the State's theory of prosecution, which this court has rejected as a matter of In our analysis, we find it difficult to conclude that law. there was no reasonable possibility that the jury's improper consideration of the kidnaping charge did not contribute to Mackerley's first degree murder conviction; however, Delgado indicates that the error here is, as a matter of law, harmless.

Id. at D725. The Fourth District certified the following question

to this Court as one of great public importance:

Is it harmless error when a defendant is convicted by general verdict for first degree murder on the dual theories of premeditation and felony murder where the felony underlying the felony murder charge is based on a legally unsupportable theory of which the defendant is nevertheless convicted, and there is evidence in the record to support the jury's finding of premeditation?

Id. at D725. Contrary to the question certified, there was no finding by the jury of premeditation. Mackerley respectfully rewords the issue as follows:

WHEN A JURY IS CHARGED UPON THE DUAL THEORIES OF FELONY MURDER

AND PREMEDITATED MURDER, AND RETURNS A GENERAL VERDICT OF GUILT OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER, IF THE FELONY MURDER THEORY IS LEGALLY INVALID (AS OPPOSED TO EVIDENTIALLY INSUFFICIENT), MUST THE GENERAL VERDICT BE SET ASIDE AND THE DEFENDANT AWARDED A NEW TRIAL WITHOUT REGARD TO THE HARMLESS ERROR DOCTRINE IN ACCORDANCE WITH DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHERE THE JURY MAY HAVE BASED ITS VERDICT UPON THE LEGALLY INVALID THEORY?

Mackerley timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Where a jury is charged upon dual theories, one of which is legally invalid and the other legally valid, and the jury returns a general verdict of guilt which may rest upon the legally invalid theory, the defendant is entitled to a new trial without regard to the harmless error doctrine. Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 77 S.Ct. 1064, 1 L.Ed.2d 1356 (1957). A criminal charge which falls outside its statutory definition is an example of a legally invalid theory. Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991) The harmless error doctrine does apply, however, if one theory is merely factually insufficient as opposed to legally invalid. In such a case, the conviction will be upheld if the alternative theory was supported by sufficient evidence. Turner v. United States, 396 U.S. 398, 90 S.Ct. 642, 24 L.Ed.2d 610 (1970). The distinction between legal invalidity and factual sufficiency is made because jurors are presumed equipped to reject a factually insufficient theory but not a legally invalid one. Griffin, supra.

-12-

Here, Mackerley was charged with kidnaping and first degree murder. The jury was instructed that it could find him guilty of first degree murder based upon either of two theories: (1) premeditated murder; or (2) felony murder, the underlying felony being kidnaping. The jury found Mackerley guilty of kidnaping and returned a general verdict of guilt of first degree murder which did not specify whether the verdict was based upon felony/kidnaping murder or premeditated murder. On appeal, the Fourth District vacated the kidnaping conviction, agreeing with Mackerley's claim that the prosecution's theories of kidnaping were legally invalid because they fell outside the statutory definition of kidnaping.

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