IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-714

ALAN MACKERLEY,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 656879

STEVEN R. PARRISH

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0185698 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

ALAN MACKERLEY v. STATE OF FLORIDA

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kidnaping is a legally correct charge under felony murder theory of first degree murder, even assuming, arguendo, the evidence was legally insufficient to support it. Therefore, verdict utilizing general verdict form is sustainable, subject to harmless error analysis.

There was substantial, competent evidence to sustain a kidnaping verdict based upon theory of secret abduction.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

KIDNAPING IS A LEGALLY CORRECT CHARGE UNDER FELONY MURDER THEORY OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER, EVEN ASSUMING, ARGUENDO, THE EVIDENCE WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT IT.

The $4^{\rm th}$ DCA has certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

Is it harmless error when a defendant is convicted by general verdict for first degree murder on the dual theories of premeditation and felony murder where the felony underlying the felony murder charge is based on a legally unsupportable theory of which the defendant is nevertheless convicted, and there is evidence in the record to support the jury's finding of premeditation?

With all due respect to the 4th DCA, the certified question is based upon their mistaken finding below that the kidnaping charge in this case was "legally inadequate" to support a felony murder charge. The State submits that the kidnaping charge in this case was a legally valid charge - an enumerated felony under the Florida Statutes which supported the felony murder charge to the jury. While the State does not concede that the evidence in this case is insufficient to support a kidnaping charge, what the 4th DCA

¹ In <u>POINT 2</u>, infra., is the argument as to why the kidnaping charge should be reinstated. Obviously, if the kidnaping charge is sustained, then any argument over the general verdict form becomes unnecessary.

described in its opinion below relates to a factual insufficiency of evidence to support the felony murder theory, not a legal one. Therefore, the harmless error analysis of the general verdict form was proper.

One problem in sorting through the issue in this case, is the semantic difficulty that arises when discussing the differences between legal error or inadequacy and factual insufficiency with regard to the validity of a general verdict. A review of the law in this area will illuminate those differences and how the Court should treat them.

The problem arises because courts tend to label things that are decided "as a matter of law" as "legal error," when in fact, they may simply be a factual deficiency. The United States Supreme Court addressed this problem in responding to one of the petitioner's complaints in <u>Griffin v. United States</u>, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991).

Finally, petitioner asserts that distinction between legal error (Yates) and insufficiency of proof (Turner) is illusory, since judgments that are not supported by the requisite minimum of proof are invalid as a matter of law - and indeed, in the criminal law field at least, are constitutionally required to be set aside. See Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 61 L.Ed.2d 560, 99 S.Ct. 2781 (1979). Insufficiency of proof, in other words, is legal error. represents a purely semantical dispute.

one sense "legal error" includes inadequacy of evidence - namely, when the phrase is used as a term of art to designate those mistakes that it is the business of judges (in jury cases) and of appellate courts to identify and In this sense "legal error" occurs correct. when a jury, properly instructed as to the law, convicts on the basis of evidence that no reasonable person could regard as sufficient. But in another sense - a more natural and less artful sense - the term "legal error" means a mistake about the law, as opposed to a mistake concerning the weight or the factual import of the evidence. The answer to petitioner's objection is simply that we are using "legal error" in the latter sense. 58-9

Id. at 502 U.S. 58-9.

The parameters of what constitutes a legal error of such a magnitude to cause rejection of a general verdict without a harmless error analysis, have been drawn by the United States Supreme Court, and adopted by this Court. If a charge violates a constitutional provision (See Stromberg v. California, 283 U.S. 359, 51 S.Ct. 532, 75 L.Ed. 1117 (1931)(reversing general guilty verdict under a California statute that prohibited the flying of red flags on three alternative grounds, one of which violated rights guaranteed by the First Amendment)), or is a legally inadequate theory (See Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 77 S.Ct. 1064, 1 L.Ed.2d 1356 (1957)(reversing general guilty verdict for conspiracy where one of the possible bases for conviction was legally inadequate because of a statutory time bar)), a general

verdict is not going to stand.

In <u>Williams v. North Carolina</u>, 317 U.S. 287, 87 L.Ed 279, 63 S.Ct. 207 (1942), the Court addressed invalid constitutional grounds and general verdicts. Williams was convicted of bigamous cohabitation after the jury was instructed that it could ignore Williams' Nevada divorce decree on either ground that North Carolina did not recognize decrees based on substituted service or that the decrees were procured by fraud. <u>Id</u>. at 290-291, 87 L.Ed 279, 63 S.Ct. 207. The former of these grounds, violated the Full Faith and Credit Clause. "To say that a general verdict of guilty should be upheld though we cannot know that it did not rest on the invalid constitutional ground on which the case was submitted to the jury, would be to countenance a procedure which would cause a serious impairment of constitutional rights." <u>Id</u>. at 292, 87 L.Ed 279, 63 S.Ct. 207.

Likewise, this Court has addressed the general verdict issue as it relates to a charge that facially, does not legally exist. In <u>Valentine v. State</u>, 688 So.2d 313 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, - U.S. -, 118 S.Ct. 95, 139 L.Ed.2d 51, 66 USLW 3256 (1997), this Court held that a defendant's conviction for attempted first-degree murder would be reversed because the jury may have relied on a legally non-existent charge. The court explained:

Valentine next argues that his conviction for attempted first-degree murder is error. jury was instructed on two The possible theories on this count, attempted first degree felony murder and attempted first degree premeditated murder, and the verdict fails to state on which ground the relied. After Valentine was sentenced, this Court held that the crime of attempted first degree felony murder does not exist Florida. See State v. Gray, 654 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1995). Because the jury may have relied on this legally unsupportable theory, the conviction for attempted first-degree murder must be reversed. See Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991).

<u>Valentine</u>, at 317. The 4th DCA followed suit in <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 698 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 1997)(harmless error analysis improper where one of the jury charges was attempted first degree felony murder - a charge that does not exist in Florida).

In <u>Tricarico v. State</u>, 711 So.2d 624, 626-27 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), Tricarico was charged with felony murder under the theory of an attempt to traffic in cocaine. In light of §782.04(1)(1), Fla. Stat. (1981), the State conceded that at the time of Tricarico's crime, attempt to traffic in cocaine was not a specified felony in the murder statute. <u>Id</u>. at 625. Since the underlying felony of attempt to traffic in cocaine did not legally exist under Florida law, the 4th DCA followed <u>Yates</u> and refused to do a harmless error

analysis.

What all the previous cases have in common, is that the legal deficiency of one underlying charge was either the charge's unconstitutionality, or the charge was legally non-existent on its face. In other words, the mistake in this line of cases was a mistake about the law, as opposed to a mistake concerning the weight or the factual import of the evidence.

The fact that a general verdict may stand, if harmless error, grew from the case of <u>Griffin v. United States</u>, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991)(two conspiracy counts concerning IRS and DEA instructed to jury, but no evidence presented tying defendant to DEA count)

A host of our decisions, both before and after Yates, has applied what Williams called "the rule of the Stromberg case" to general-verdict convictions that may have rested on an unconstitutional ground.

. . .

Our continued adherence to the holding of Yates is not at issue in this case. What petitioner seeks is an extension of its holding - an expansion of Stromberg - to a context in which we have never applied it before. Petitioner cites no case, and we are aware of none, in which we have set aside a general verdict because one of the possible bases of conviction was neither unconstitutional as in Stromberg, nor even illegal as in Yates, but merely unsupported by sufficient evidence.

<u>Griffin</u> at 502 U.S. 55, 56.

It is important to note that the charges against Griffin that were instructed to the jury, were both facially legal charges.

There simply was no evidence tying the defendant to the DEA count.

The Court noted:

Indeed, if the evidence is insufficient to support an alternative legal theory of liability, it would generally be preferable for the court to give an instruction removing that theory from the jury's consideration. The refusal to do so, however, does not provide an independent basis for reversing an otherwise valid conviction.

Griffen at 502 U.S. 60

Recalling <u>Griffen</u>'s definition of legal error, instructing a jury on a legal charge that is not supported by any evidence does not constitute a legal error for a general verdict analysis, but is rather a factual insufficiency of the evidence. Where one has this situation, as is the case <u>sub judice</u>, a general verdict can be tested for harmless error.

This Court addressed this very issue in <u>McKennon v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 389, (Fla. 1981). McKennon challenged his conviction on the basis of error committed by the trial court in instructing the jury on robbery as it related to felony murder, where there was no basis in the evidence for the robbery instruction.

When a trial judge submits a case to a jury on

a felony-murder theory, he is obligated to define the underlying felony, State v. Jones, 377 So.2d 1163 (Fla. 1979); Robles v. State, 188 So.2d 789 (Fla. 1966), but if the facts do not support an underlying felony the case should not be submitted to the jury on that theory.

. . .

We find no basis in the evidence for the robbery charge. The purported bookkeeping discrepancy did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that any funds were taken from the deceased and hence was insufficient to prove commission of a robbery. We therefore hold that the court erred in instructing on felony murder and robbery. See Bradley v. State, 82 Fla. 108, 89 So. 359 (1921).

This holding does not require or justify reversal, however, because the state sought a conviction for murder based upon premeditation.

. . .

Just as in *Knight v. State*, 394 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1981), the record reflects that there is not only sufficient but overwhelming evidence of premeditated murder.

. . . .

We are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the submission of the felony murder charge to the jury was not prejudicial and did not contribute to the appellant's conviction. See Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); Frazier v. State, 107 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1958).

<u>Id</u>. at 390-91.

This Court reinforced the idea of upholding a general verdict in the face of factual insufficiency in one charge, where the trial judge erred by submitting a factually insufficient theory before the jury in <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 462 (Fla. 1998).

We agree with San Martin that the evidence in this case does not support premeditation, but do not find that reversal is warranted on this basis. While it may have been error to instruct the jury on both premeditated and felony-murder, see Mungin v. State, 689 So.2d 1026, 1029 (Fla. 1995), any error in this regard was clearly harmless.

. . .

While a general guilty verdict must be set aside where the conviction may have rested on unconstitutional ground (FN9)[citing Stromberg] or a legally inadequate theory, (FN10)[citing <u>Yates</u>] reversal is not warranted where the general verdict could have rested upon a theory of liability without adequate evidentiary support when there alternate theory of guilt for which the evidence was sufficient. Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. 46, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991).

<u>Id</u>. at 469, 470.

The issue was most recently addressed by this Court in Delgado v. State, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S79 (Fla. February 3, 2000). Delgado was indicted on two counts of first degree murder, and one count of armed burglary. The State presented a theory of felony murder - armed burglary being the underlying felony - where the

indictment stated the defendant entered or remained in the victims' dwelling with the intent to commit murder. The State's theory was that while the victims consented to the defendant being in their home, at some point this consent was withdrawn. This theory was struck down by this Court, which found that consent to enter a home is an absolute defense to burglary, and it is only the defendant who surreptitiously remains that falls within the Florida burglary statute's "remaining in" clause. Id. at S82.

This Court agreed with Delgado, that the felony murder theory, based upon the Sate's factually insufficient theory of armed burglary, should not have been presented to the jury. Since the evidence showed there was consent to enter the occupied dwelling, and this Court held that "burglary was not intended to cover the situation where an invited guest turns criminal or violent," the burglary charge failed because of a want of evidence to rebut the consent. <u>Id</u>. at S82.

Although it is legal error for the <u>Delqado</u> trial court to instruct a jury and allow them to convict on the basis of evidence that no reasonable person could regard as sufficient,

"any error in charging the jury on that theory is harmless where the evidence supports a conviction for premeditated murder. See Griffin v. United States, 502 U.S. (1991); McKennon v. State, 403 So.2d 389 (Fla. 1981)(finding error to instruct on robbery as

it relates to felony murder where there was no basis in the evidence for the robbery instruction). See also San Martin v. State, 717 So.2d 462 (Fla. 1998)(reversal is not warranted where general verdict could have rested upon theory of liability without adequate evidentiary support when there was alternative theory of guilt for which evidence was sufficient), cert. denied, 119 S.Ct. 1468 (1999).

<u>Delgado</u> at S82. In light of the Court's conclusion that there was sufficient evidence for premeditated murder, any errors with regard to the failed felony murder charge were harmless, "as there is no reasonable possibility that any such errors affected the verdict. See State v. DiGulio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986)("The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict.")." <u>Delgado</u>, at S83.

The problem in the instant case, is that the 4th DCA has misapplied the law with regard to general verdicts where factual insufficiency is the legal error. The 4th DCA found that the State's theories of kidnaping were legally invalid. Mackerly v. State, 25 Fla.L.Weekly D722, D724 (Fla. 4th DCA, March 22, 2000). As will be shown below, this is in error as it was the evidence that was legally insufficient to support the legally valid underlying felony charge of kidnaping, contained in the felony murder charge to the jury.

Florida's murder statute states in pertinent part:

782.04 Murder.-

- (1)(a) The unlawful killing of a human being:

 1. When perpetrated from a premeditated design to effect the death of the person killed or any human being; or
- (2) When committed by a person engaged in the perpetration of, or in the attempt to perpetrate, any:

f. Kidnaping,

. . .

§782.04, Fla. Stat. (1997).

In light of §782.04((1)(a)2.f., it is clear that kidnaping is a legally valid charge to be the underlying felony in a felony murder charge. In the instant case, Mackerley was indicted for kidnaping in COUNT II, in pertinent part, as follows:

COUNT II

. . . Alan Mackerly . . . did unlawfully and forcibly, secretly, or by threat, confine, abduct, or imprison the person of Frank Black, against that person's will and without lawful authority, with intent to commit or facilitate the commission of another felony, and/or inflict bodily harm upon or to terrorize the victim or another person in violation of Florida Statute 787.01; . . .

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